No. 24-CV-0759

IN THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

Clerk of the Court

Received 01/16/2025 05:28 PM

MASSACHUSETTS AVENUE HEIGHTS CITIZENS ASSOCIATION,

APPELLANT,

v.

D.C. BOARD OF ZONING ADJUSTMENT,

APPELLEE.

*On Appeal from the Superior Court for the District of Columbia, Civil Division in
Case No. 2023-CAB-002455 (Honorable Carl E. Ross, Judge)*

CORRECTED APPELLANT'S BRIEF

Paul A. Cunningham* (D.C. Bar No. 263210)
HARKINS CUNNINGHAM LLP
1750 K Street, N.W., Suite 300
Washington, D.C. 20006-3804
pac@harkinscunningham.com
(202) 973-7600

*Counsel for Appellant Massachusetts Avenue
Heights Citizens Association*

**Counsel expected to argue*

Dated: January 16th, 2025

I. JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

Appellant Massachusetts Avenue Heights Citizens Association (“MAHCA”) appeals an order (the “Order”) from the D.C. Superior Court that summarily disposed of all issues and claims with respect to all parties for case 2023-CAB-002455. This Court has jurisdiction over MAHCA’s appeal. D.C. Code § 11-721(a)(1). The Superior Court had jurisdiction over MAHCA’s petition for review of a decision (the “Decision”) by Appellee D.C. Board of Zoning Adjustment (“BZA”)¹ in a “non-contested” case. *See R.O. v. Dep’t of Youth Rehab. Servs.*, 199 A.3d 1160, 1165 (D.C. 2019); *see also U.S. v. D.C. Bd. of Zoning Adjustment*, 644 A.2d 995, 999 n.9 (D.C. 1994); D.C. Code § 11-921(a)(6).

II. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES²

A. Whether the Trial Court and FMBZA erred as a matter of law by determining that the District Elements of the Comprehensive Plan for the National Capital (the “Comprehensive Plan,” or “Plan”),³ which define a municipal interest

¹ When making determinations regarding the location of chanceries in the District, the BZA sits as the Foreign Missions Board of Zoning Adjustment (the “FMBZA” or “Board”). *See* D.C. Code § 6-1306(i)(2).

² At the time of filing, MAHCA has not received a response from the Office of the Attorney General regarding the Joint Appendix. Should the Joint Appendix in any way inconvenience the Board, MAHCA will cooperate in ensuring the Board has adequate time to file the record and respond to this Brief.

³ References to individual D.C. regulations are cited as “D.C. Mun. Regs.” followed by the applicable title, subtitle, and section. Subsequent uses of the term

in preventing chanceries from locating in essentially residential areas, can be disregarded in ascertaining whether a chancery seeking to locate in a residential neighborhood will serve the municipal interest.

B. Whether the FMBZA erred as a matter of law in holding that it was unable to include conditions that would protect MAHCA’s residential integrity in its Decision, when (1) the FMBZA has included such conditions in its previous decisions on chancery applications locating in residential neighborhoods and (2) such conditions are required by the Comprehensive Plan.

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a case of first impression. MAHCA contends that the Comprehensive Plan asserts a municipal interest in preventing chanceries from locating in predominantly residential areas and protecting the residential character of those areas, which the Board, pursuant to the Foreign Missions Act (“FMA”), must analyze when reviewing the merits of a chancery application. The Board’s Decision, and the Superior Court’s Order upholding it, violate the FMA by relying on a determination of the municipal interest that failed to implement the Comprehensive Plan (and Congress’ legislative purpose in enacting the FMA).

“Comprehensive Plan” refer to policies regarding the location of chanceries in the District, specifically D.C. Mun. Regs. 10.A §§ 318.10–11 detailed *infra* pp. 9–10. Those policies and relevant legislative history are attached as Exhibits D and E in the Addendum.

A. Procedural History

On March 1, 2023, the FMBZA voted to not disapprove the application (the “Application”) of the Embassy of the Republic of Kosovo (the “Applicant”) to locate a chancery (the “Chancery”) at 3612 Massachusetts Avenue, N.W. (the “Property”) in Square 1931 (the “Square”) in the Massachusetts Avenue Heights Neighborhood (the “Neighborhood”). The Property is bounded by Massachusetts Ave, NW (the “Avenue”), a single-family residence facing the Avenue (which the Property does not face) that abuts the Property to the south, and 36th Place, NW (the only street offering access to the Property and on which are located only single-family residences). ~~single family residences on either side facing Massachusetts Avenue, NW, by a block of exclusively single family residences directly across 36th Street, NW (which is the only street offering access to the Property), and exclusively single family residences across the alley connecting 36th Street, NW and 36th Place, NW.~~ The Square is 86.25% residential use and 13.75% religious use (which is used by a long-established synagogue), and the Neighborhood is a low-density residential neighborhood in an R-1-B zone consisting of primarily ~~single family~~single-family residential properties along narrow local streets and containing no offices or chanceries.

The Decision first found that the Square and its Neighborhood did not serve mostly residential uses because the Property was “adjacent” to non-institutional uses

located beyond the Square and Neighborhood and across Massachusetts Avenue (the “Avenue”)—a four lane arterial⁴ that bounds the Neighborhood. That determination violated the Comprehensive Plan and therefore the municipal interest.⁵ The Board then held that the proposed Chancery served the “municipal interest” by relying solely on a report by the District’s Office of Planning (“OP”) that contravened both the Home Rule Act and the Comprehensive Plan. *See infra* p. 10 note 10. Finally, the Board declined to include conditions to protect the Neighborhood and Square’s residential character in its Decision approving the Application, opining that it did not possess the power to issue such conditions, and, even if it did, then it could not enforce those conditions. In the Decision, the Board addressed neither the municipal interest stated in the Comprehensive Plan nor Congress’ legislative intent to prohibit chanceries from locating in essentially residential areas—which both weighed against approving the Application.

On April 18, 2023, MAHCA asked the Superior Court to review the Decision. In its briefing before the Superior Court, MAHCA argued the Board (1) erred as a

⁴ The District classifies the Avenue as a “Principal Arterial.” *District of Columbia Functional Classification Map*, DISTRICT DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION, accessible at https://ddot.dc.gov/sites/default/files/dc/sites/ddot/publication/attachments/FunctionalClass_2016.pdf (last accessed Jan. 13, 2025).

⁵ If this determination did not involve the municipal interest, then the Board violated the Zoning Regulations by construing them in a manner that violated the Comprehensive Plan. *Infra* p. 36 note 32.

matter of law in determining that the Chancery served the municipal interest by relying on an OP report that unlawfully ignored and contravened the Comprehensive Plan, (2) acted arbitrarily and capriciously and violated the municipal interest stated in the Comprehensive Plan in its mixed-use determination, and (3) erred in deciding that it could not condition its approval of the Application.

In its July 19, 2024 Order, the Superior Court rejected MAHCA’s arguments. Misconstruing MAHCA’s argument, the Superior Court dismissed the Comprehensive Plan’s role in deciding the municipal interest because the Comprehensive Plan is not named as one of the six substantive criteria in D.C. Code § 6-1306(d) (the “FMA Criteria”) that the FMA requires the Board to consider when rendering a chancery decision. JA 112–13. The Superior Court justified the Board’s reliance on OP’s unlawful failure to implement the Comprehensive Plan, explaining that MAHCA’s purported failure to show how “the Board’s reliance on the Office of Planning’s recommendation was in any way contrary to the *law*” excused the Board from any wrongdoing. Order at JA 115 (emphasis in original). The Superior Court did not address MAHCA’s arguments regarding the Board’s conditioning power. MAHCA appealed the Order on August 20, 2024.

B. Law Governing the Location of Chanceries in the District

Given the many statutes and regulations governing a FMBZA proceeding on a chancery application, MAHCA sets forth the relevant law to assist the Court's understanding of the facts and the case.

1. The Foreign Missions Act⁶

In 1982, the U.S. Congress enacted the FMA. The FMA amended the D.C. Code to provide a regulatory process that would govern “[t]he location, replacement, or expansion of chanceries in the District of Columbia.” D.C. Code § 6-1306(a). This process was “specifically designed to accommodate the competing **local** and federal concerns in the District of Columbia.” *Embassy of the People’s Republic of Benin v. D.C. Bd. of Zoning Adjustment*, 534 A.2d 310, 319 (D.C. 1987) (emphasis added); *see also U.S. v. D.C. Bd. of Zoning Adjustment*, 644 A.2d at 997 (FMA “was intended to create a mechanism to assure the protection of the interest of the United States, while giving due consideration to **local** concerns”) (emphasis added); H. R. Rep. No. 97-693, at 41 (1982) (Conf. Rep.) (“Section 206(d) sets forth the criteria to be applied in the determination of chancery issues, which are intended to balance the **municipal** and Federal interests.”) (emphasis added).

⁶ The FMA and relevant portions of its legislative history are attached as Exhibits A–C in the Addendum for the Court’s review.

The FMA states that “[a] chancery shall be permitted to locate as a matter of right in any area which is zoned commercial, industrial, waterfront, or mixed-use (CR).” D.C. Code § 6-1306(b)(1). A chancery is also allowed to locate in a low-density residential neighborhood “determined on the basis of existing uses, which includes office or institutional uses, . . . subject to disapproval by the District of Columbia Board of Zoning Adjustment in accordance with [the FMA Criteria].” D.C. Code § 6-1306(b)(2)(B). Congress explained that the FMA “will not permit chanceries to be located in any area which is **essentially a residential area.**” H. R. Rep. No. 97-693, at 41 (1982) (Conf. Rep.) (emphasis added); *see also* S. Rep. No. 97-329, pt. 3, at 14 (1982) (Senate report on the FMA explaining that “areas in which the Foreign Missions Commission determines current uses are entirely residential would not become available for chancery use”).

“[T]he FMA provides the exclusive procedure available for consideration of [a chancery] application.” *Benin*, 534 A.2d at 319. It specifies that “any determination concerning the location of a chancery under subsection (b)(2) of this section, or concerning an appeal of an administrative decision with respect to a chancery based in whole or in part upon any zoning regulation or map, shall be based solely on the following criteria:” (1) the United States’ international obligations, (2) historic preservation, (3) parking requirements, (4) the extent to which the area is capable of being adequately protected, (5) the municipal interest, as determined by

the Mayor of the District of Columbia,⁷ and (6) the federal interest, as determined by the Secretary of State. D.C. Code § 6-1306(d).

2. The Comprehensive Plan

The Comprehensive Plan expresses the District's municipal interest in not locating chanceries in low-density residential neighborhoods. Formed through an “exhaustive process of research, analysis, and review” that includes substantial “citizen involvement,” D.C. Code § 1-306.01(a)(1), its purposes are to, *inter alia*, “[d]efine the requirements and aspirations of District residents,” “[g]uide executive and legislative decisions on matters affecting the District and its citizens,” and “[a]ssist in the conservation, stabilization, and improvement of each neighborhood and community in the District,” D.C. Code §§ 1-306.01(b)(1), (2), (6) (emphasis added).

Under the Home Rule Act of 1973, the Mayor is “responsible for the **preparation** and **implementation** of the District's elements of the comprehensive plan for the National Capital.” D.C. Code § 1-204.23(a) (emphasis added).⁸ The Mayor has since delegated these responsibilities to OP. Mayor's Order 83-25 (Jan.

⁷ The Mayor delegated this determination to the Office of Planning. *See* Mayor's Order 83-106 (Apr. 28, 1983) (attached as Exhibit H) (~~JA 607~~).

⁸ *See also Tenley & Cleveland Park Emergency Comm. v. D.C. Bd. of Zoning Adjustment*, 550 A.2d 331, 335 (D.C. 1988) (explaining that the Home Rule Act “vested the Mayor with [this] responsibility”); D.C. Code § 1-204.22 (“The Mayor shall be responsible for the proper execution of all laws relating to the District”).

3, 1983) (attached as Exhibit G) (JA 605) (“The Director of Planning shall . . . (a)

Prepare, refine and implement the District ~~e~~Elements of the Comprehensive Plan for the National Capital.”) (emphasis added). OP submits the elements or amendments to the D.C. Council for “adoption by act.” D.C. Code § 1-204.23(b); *Cummins v. D.C. Zoning Comm’n*, 229 A.3d 768, 771 (D.C. 2020) (explaining that the Comprehensive Plan is a “legislative enactment”). The National Capital Planning Commission (the “NCPC”) and Congress also review the Comprehensive Plan. D.C. Code § 1-204.23(b), (c).

The Comprehensive Plan’s mandates⁹ regarding chanceries are in the Land Use Element—the “cornerstone of the Comprehensive Plan,” D.C. Mun. Regs. 10.A § 300.1, which “should be given greater weight than other elements,” D.C. Mun. Regs. 10.A § 300.3. Policy LU-3.4.1 protects low-density residential neighborhoods from chancery encroachment:

Encourage foreign missions to locate their chancery facilities where adjacent existing and proposed land uses are compatible (i.e., office, commercial, and mixed-use), taking special care to protect the integrity of residential areas. Discourage the location of new chanceries in any area that is essentially a residential use area to the extent consistent with the Foreign Missions Act.

⁹ Although the Comprehensive Plan uses the term “Policy” to describe the District’s municipal interest in protecting low-density residential neighborhoods from chancery encroachment, these policies are binding because they create affirmative actions that OP must, by law, **implement** and may not choose to disregard. See D.C. Code § 1-204.23(a).

D.C. Mun. Regs. 10.A § 318.10. Policy LU-3.4.2 creates target areas for new chanceries to prevent applications in residential areas:

Encourage the development of new chancery facilities in locations where they would support neighborhood revitalization and economic development goals, particularly in federal enclaves and east of 16th Street NW. Work with the Department of State, the NCPC, and other organizations to encourage foreign missions to locate in these areas.

D.C. Mun. Regs. 10.A § 318.11.

The Home Rule Act requires OP to “implement” the Comprehensive Plan, so OP must adhere to the Comprehensive Plan’s mandate against locating chanceries in low-density residential neighborhoods when it determines whether a proposed chancery is in the municipal interest.¹⁰ *See* D.C. Code § 1-204.23(a). Because OP is “responsible” for the “proper execution” of the Comprehensive Plan’s implementation, *see* D.C. Code § 1-204.22, it may not ignore the Comprehensive Plan during a chancery proceeding—which is the precise occasion when the Plan and the protections it affords the District’s citizens and neighborhoods are most applicable.¹¹

¹⁰ Thus, when OP fails to implement the Comprehensive Plan, it violates the Home Rule Act. Likewise, any application of D.C.’s zoning regulations under D.C. Mun. Regs. 11.X §§ 200–205 and D.C. Mun. Regs. 11.Y § 301 that violates the Comprehensive Plan also violates the Home Rule Act. *Infra* p. 132 note 14, 36 note 32.

¹¹ It is well-established in the law that an executive officer may not disregard affirmative duties placed on it by the law. *Cf. Marbury v. Madison*, 5 U.S. (1 Cranch) 137, 166 (1803) (“But when the legislature proceeds to impose on that officer other

There is no conflict between the FMA and the Comprehensive Plan. The Plan's long-standing¹² mandates translate the FMA's legislative intent to prevent chanceries from locating in any part of the District that is "essentially a residential area," H. R. Rep. No. 97-693, at 41 (1982) (Conf. Rep.), into binding law. Moreover, in allowing the Plan's passage into law, the NCPC found that the Comprehensive Plan is "consistent with" the FMA and the municipal interest and "reflect[s] the policy of" the FMA. D.C. Code § 6-1306(e)(1) ("[r]egulations, proceedings, and other actions of the [NCPC] . . . affecting the location, replacement, or expansion of chanceries shall be consistent with this section (including the criteria set out in subsection (d) of this section) and shall reflect the policy of this chapter").

duties; when he is directed peremptorily to perform certain acts; when the rights of individuals are dependent on the performance of those acts; he is so far the officer of the law; is amenable to the laws for his conduct; and cannot at his discretion sport away the vested rights of others."); *U.S. v. Lee*, 106 U.S. 196, 220 (1882) ("No man in this country is so high that he is above the law. No officer of the law may set that law at defiance with impunity. All the officers of the government, from the highest to the lowest, are creatures of the law and are bound to obey it."); *Nat'l Treasury Emps. Union v. Nixon*, 492 F.2d 587, 604 (D.C. Cir. 1974) (President's "constitutional duty" to "take Care that the Laws be faithfully executed" does not "permit the President to refrain from executing laws duly enacted by the Congress as those laws are construed by the judiciary").

¹² These mandates have been in effect in some form for twenty-five years. The 1998 amendments to the Comprehensive Plan included "a newly adopted provision concerning chanceries" that "sets forth policies in support of the residential neighborhood objectives," specifically a policy to discourage the location of chanceries in essentially residential areas. Report of the Council of the District of Columbia, Committee of the Whole, on Bill 13-108, the "Comprehensive Plan Technical Corrections and Response to NCPC Recommendations, and Closing of a Public Alley in Square 1189, S.O. 98-150, Act of 1999," at 5 (March 16, 1999).

3. The District's Zoning Regulations

In 2016, the District amended its zoning regulations (the “Zoning Regulations”) regarding chanceries to clarify when a foreign mission, pursuant to D.C. Code § 6-1306(b)(2)(B), may file an application to locate a chancery in a low-density residential neighborhood.¹³ Before applying the FMA Criteria, the Board must “determine whether the proposed location is in a mixed-use area determined on the basis of existing uses, which includes office and institutional uses.” D.C. Mun. Regs. 11.X § 201.3. “[T]he ‘area’ shall be the area that the [FMBZA] determines most accurately depicts the existing mix of uses adjacent to the proposed location of the chancery.” D.C. Mun. Regs. 11.X § 201.4. If an applicant wishes the FMBZA to consider an area outside of the residential square in which the property is located, then the applicant must include “a statement . . . explaining the basis for using ~~that the~~ area, which shall not be based solely on previous Board action for another location.” D.C. Mun. Regs. 11.Y § 301.7. “An area shall be considered to be a mixed-use area if as of the date of the application more than fifty percent (50%) of the zoned land within the area is devoted to uses other than residential uses.” D.C. Mun. Regs. 11.X § 201.5. If the FMBZA finds that the area is not a “mixed-use area,” then it will disapprove the application. D.C. Mun. Regs. 11.X § 201.7. If the FMBZA

¹³ The Zoning Regulations pertaining to the location of chanceries within the District are found at D.C. Mun. Regs. 11.X §§ 200–205 and D.C. Mun. Regs. 11.Y § 301, which are attached as Exhibit F in the Addendum for the Court’s review.

finds that the area is a “mixed-use area,” then it will determine the merits of the application based on the FMA Criteria. D.C. Mun. Reg. 11.X § 201.6.¹⁴

IV. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

A. The Evidentiary Record Before the FMBZA

On September 9, 2022, the Applicant filed its Application with the FMBZA for an exception to the Neighborhood’s residential zoning to transform “a single-family dwelling” into “a chancery with 6 offices and seven employees” at 3612 Massachusetts Avenue, N.W. JA 117, 119. The Property is in Square 1931 and in the “*unique residential neighborhood*,” JA 323 (emphasis added), of Massachusetts Avenue Heights, *which has no office or chancery uses and is located entirely in an R-1-B zone*,¹⁵ JA 171, 305. *Wisconsin Avenue, Massachusetts Avenue, Garfield Street, Observatory Circle, and Calvert Street form the boundaries of the Neighborhood.* JA 167, 171, 286, 305.

¹⁴ The “mixed-use determination” is only found in the Zoning Regulations—not the FMA. Should the Board argue that the “mixed-use determination” does not involve the municipal interest (and therefore the Comprehensive Plan), OP must still “implement” the Comprehensive Plan in its interpretation of the Zoning Regulations, D.C. Code § 1-204.23(a), and the Board may not interpret the Zoning Regulations in a manner that is inconsistent with the Comprehensive Plan, *infra* p. 36 note 32.

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