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

FMA.  JA 10-12.  Those factors are: (1) the international obligation of the United 

States, (2) historic preservation, (3) parking, (4) security, (5) the municipal interest, 

and (6) the federal interest.  D.C. Code § 6-1306(d); 11-X DCMR § 201.8.  These 

six criteria are the only factors the Board may consider when deciding whether to 

approve a chancery application.  Benin, 534 A.2d at 318.  And in this case, all six 

factors favored approval of the application, which was supported by the Department 

of State and the Office of Planning.  JA 10-12.  MAHCA contests only the municipal 

interest factor, implicitly conceding that substantial evidence supports the Board’s 

analysis of the remaining factors.  

The FMA states that the municipal interest factor must be “determined by the 

Mayor.”  D.C. Code § 6-1306(d)(5).  The Mayor has delegated that task to the Office 

of Planning.  Mayor’s Order 83-106 (Apr. 28, 1983).  The Office of Planning 

concluded that Kosovo’s application was in the municipal interest and recommended 

approval.  JA 253-58.  In particular, the Office of Planning highlighted that the 

chancery did not propose “any external changes to the existing building,” was 

unlikely to affect “the privacy and use of enjoyment of neighboring property,” and 

that the site was “well supported by adequate public transportation.”  JA 257.  The 
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Board properly deferred to that determination in finding that the chancery was in the 

municipal interest.  JA 11-12.   

B. MAHCA’s arguments to the contrary are unpersuasive. 

MAHCA contends that the Board should have considered the Comprehensive 

Plan as part of both the mixed-use area determination and the municipal interest 

factor.  Br. 30-36.  Notably, MAHCA never raised this argument to the Board as part 

of the proceedings to approve Kosovo’s application.  Although other commenters 

mentioned the Comprehensive Plan in passing, MAHCA never argued (in its written 

submission or oral testimony) that the Board was required to address the 

Comprehensive Plan.  See JA 229-34, 321-50, 510-13.  Regardless, MAHCA’s 

current argument fails for multiple independent reasons. 

First, MAHCA’s argument conflates the two steps of the FMA analysis: the 

mixed-use inquiry and the six merits factors.  At times, MAHCA suggests that 

consideration of the “municipal interest” merits factor should “govern the Board’s 

mixed-use determination.”  Br. 31; see also Br. 13 n.14, 33-34, 36 n.32.  But at other 

points, it argues the reverse: that the municipal interest factor should include analysis 

of whether the property is in a mixed-use area.  See Br. 35-36.  Neither of these 

suggestions is a correct reading of the FMA.  The mixed-use area analysis is a 

separate, threshold requirement for chanceries seeking to locate in particular zones.  

See supra pp. 5-6.  Only if the property is determined to be within a mixed-use area 
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may the Board proceed to the merits, including consideration of the municipal 

interest.  See supra pp. 6-7. 

Second, the FMA does not require the Board to consider the Comprehensive 

Plan’s recommendations at either step of the analysis.  The Comprehensive Plan is 

a (generally nonbinding) interpretive tool designed to guide future zoning decisions 

by policymakers.  See infra pp. 39-41.  At the threshold zoning inquiry, the Board’s 

role is not to make policy.  Rather, it is to determine whether the “area” surrounding 

the chancery also “includes office or institutional uses.”  D.C. Code § 6-

1306(b)(2)(B).  That task is descriptive, not normative.  The Board is charged with 

determining whether an area in fact contains existing institutional uses.  See 11-X 

DCMR § 201.3 to .4.  The Comprehensive Plan has no bearing on that limited factual 

inquiry. 

At the merits phase, the Comprehensive Plan is also inapposite, but for a 

different reason.  The FMA’s criteria are exclusive; the Board is instructed that its 

decision must be based “solely” on the six listed factors.  D.C. Code § 6-1306(d).  

This Court has similarly confirmed that the Board must consider chancery 

applications “applying only the substantive provisions of the Foreign Missions Act, 

rather than the generally applicable zoning regulations.”  Dupont Circle Citizens 

Ass’n v. D.C. Bd. of Zoning Adjustment, 530 A.2d 1163, 1165 n.4 (D.C. 1987) 

(emphasis added) (citations omitted).  The Comprehensive Plan is not one of the 
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factors listed in the statute, as MAHCA acknowledges, Br. 31, so it cannot be 

considered. 

MAHCA’s argument that the Comprehensive Plan must be evaluated as part 

of the municipal interest factor is mistaken.  MAHCA’s theory is that because the 

Office of Planning has responsibilities related to “the preparation and 

implementation of the District’s elements of the comprehensive plan,” D.C. Code 

§ 1-204.23(a), as well as with determining the “municipal interest” factor under the 

FMA, id. § 6-1306(d)(5), those two obligations necessarily must interact.  Br. 9-10, 

31-32.  But it is not clear why that would be the case.  Just because an agency has 

duties under one statute does not necessarily mean those duties apply when the 

agency is performing tasks under another, unrelated statute.  MAHCA points to 

nothing stating that the Office of Planning must implement the Comprehensive Plan 

at all times or when specifically performing its role under the FMA.   

Even assuming that the Office of Planning was obligated to consider the 

Comprehensive Plan, that duty cannot be further imputed to the Board.  In its brief, 

MAHCA asserts—in a single sentence and without any supporting authority—that 

the Board “commit[s] an error of law” if it “relies on a determination of the 

municipal interest that contravenes the Comprehensive Plan.”  Br. 31.  This cursory 

argument misunderstands the Board’s role under the FMA.  The Office of Planning 

is the entity charged with “determin[ing]” the municipal interest, not the Board.  D.C. 
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Code § 6-1306(d)(5).  That determination is solely within the Office of Planning’s 

discretion and cannot be reviewed here.  See Dupont Circle Citizens Ass’n v. D.C. 

Alcoholic Beverage Control Bd., 766 A.2d 59, 62 (D.C. 2001); Kopff v. D.C. 

Alcoholic Beverage Control Bd., 413 A.2d 152, 154 (D.C. 1980).  Once the Office 

of Planning has made its determination, the Board has “no authority to review the 

validity of the coordinate agency’s action”; it may only weigh the factor alongside 

the other statutory criteria.  Craig v. D.C. Alcoholic Beverage Control Bd., 721 A.2d 

584, 588 (D.C. 1998).  Second-guessing the Office of Planning’s determination 

would have effectively made the Board “a court of appeals over other coordinate 

administrative departments.”  Kopff, 413 A.2d at 154.  

Third, even if the Board were somehow obligated to consider the 

Comprehensive Plan as part of its own analysis, the provisions that MAHCA 

identifies in its brief are merely planning recommendations, not legal requirements.  

“The Plan is not a code of prohibitions; it is . . . a broad statement of policy to guide 

future public decision-making.”  Durant v. D.C. Zoning Comm’n, 65 A.3d 1161, 

1168 (D.C. 2013) (cleaned up).  “Except where specifically provided, the Plan is not 

‘binding’; it is only an interpretive tool.”  Id.  Even in areas where the Plan must be 

considered, an agency “may balance competing priorities in order to evaluate 

whether a project would be inconsistent with the Plan as a whole.”  D.C. Libr. 

Renaissance Project, 73 A.3d at 126. 
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Here, the Comprehensive Plan provisions that MAHCA cites confirm that 

they are merely nonbinding recommendations for planning purposes.  MAHCA 

points to Policy LU-3.4.1, which “encourage[s]” chanceries to locate in areas with 

compatible uses and “discourage[s]” them from locating in “any area that is 

essentially a residential use area”: 

Encourage foreign missions to locate their chancery facilities where 
adjacent existing and proposed land uses are compatible (i.e., office, 
commercial, and mixed-use), taking special care to protect the integrity 
of residential areas. Discourage the location of new chanceries in any 
area that is essentially a residential use area to the extent consistent with 
the Foreign Missions Act. 

10-A DCMR § 318.10.  MAHCA also cites Policy LU-3.4.2, which similarly 

“encourage[s]” chanceries to locate in areas in need of revitalization: 

Encourage the development of new chancery facilities in locations 
where they would support neighborhood revitalization and economic 
development goals, particularly in federal enclaves and east of 16th 
Street NW. Work with the Department of State, the NCPC, and other 
organizations to encourage foreign missions to locate in these areas. 

10-A DCMR § 318.11.  Nothing in these two policies states that a chancery 

application will not satisfy the FMA’s municipal interest factor if it conflicts with 

the policy’s recommendation.  In fact, these policies do not link their 

recommendations to the FMA’s municipal interest factor specifically.   

Moreover, these policies appear to simply restate—in less binding terms—the 

FMA’s existing mixed-use area requirement.  Policy LU-3.4.1’s suggestion that 

chanceries should locate in areas with “adjacent” nonresidential uses simply 
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rephrases the statutory and regulatory requirement that the Board conduct a mixed-

use analysis before approving a chancery in a low- or medium-density residential 

zone.  Likewise, “discourag[ing]” chanceries from locating in “essentially a 

residential use area” is the purpose of the mixed-used area analysis.  By concluding 

that an area is mixed-use, the Board has necessarily found that the chancery is 

“compatible” with existing land uses and that the area is not purely—or even 

predominantly—residential.  And Policy LU-3.4.1 explicitly acknowledges that the 

FMA serves as a limitation; its recommendation should be followed only “to the 

extent consistent with” the statute.  Thus, by conducting the two-part inquiry 

required by the FMA, the Board has already given the necessary consideration to 

these policy concerns.  Any failure to explicitly label that analysis as also consistent 

with the Comprehensive Plan was harmless and cannot render the Board’s approval 

unsupported by substantial evidence.  Harding v. D.C. Off. of Emp. Appeals, 887 

A.2d 33, 35 (D.C. 2005).  

III. The Board Did Not Abuse Its Discretion In Declining To Impose 
Conditions On Its Approval. 

Finally, MAHCA contends that the Board erred in failing to impose 

conditions on its approval of Kosovo’s chancery application.  Br. 37-41.  In arguing 

that the FMA “allows” the Board to apply conditions to its approval, MAHCA 

appears to concede that the decision to include conditions is committed to the 

Board’s discretion.  Br. 38 (arguing that the Board “can” include conditions as an 
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“[i]mplicit” part of its “power” to approve applications).  This Court similarly has 

acknowledged that chancery approval under the FMA is an “exercise of judgment” 

by the Board.  Benin, 534 A.2d at 322.  Because the decision to impose conditions 

is discretionary, the Board’s determination that no conditions were needed “will be 

set aside only for an abuse of discretion.”  Recio v. D.C. Alcoholic Beverage Control 

Bd., 75 A.3d 134, 144 (D.C. 2013) (quoting King v. D.C. Water & Sewer Auth., 803 

A.2d 966, 968 (D.C. 2002)). 

The Board did not abuse its discretion in declining to condition its approval 

of Kosovo’s application.  The Board correctly noted that the Office of Planning had 

recommended approving the application without conditions, and none were needed 

to ensure that the application met the FMA’s statutory factors.  JA 12 & n.7.   

That makes this case different from the Republic of Benin case that MAHCA 

cites, Br. 39, where “the Office of Planning expressed strong concerns” that the 

application did not meet the statutory factors and was not in the municipal interest, 

JA 575.  The Board imposed conditions in the Benin case that were relevant to those 

concerns and directly linked to the factors identified in the FMA.  For instance, it 

imposed conditions related to historic preservation, JA 579-80, which is an explicit 

FMA factor, D.C. Code § 6-1306(d)(2).  It also required the chancery to use a shuttle 

service to limit its effect on parking, JA 580, another FMA factor, D.C. Code § 6-

1306(d)(3).  Lastly, it imposed other conditions related to maintenance, lighting, 
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deliveries, trash collection, and social functions, because the Office of Planning had 

raised concerns about these issues negatively affecting the municipal interest.  JA 

575.  In this case, by contrast, the Office of Planning identified no concerns with 

Kosovo’s application related to any statutory factor, so conditions were not needed 

to ensure that the FMA was satisfied.  See JA 12 n.7. 

Similarly, in the Gambia case, the Board imposed a limited set of conditions 

related to parking, receptions, and maintenance that were the subject of a formal 

agreement between Gambia and the local ANC.  JA 602.  Kosovo and the ANC 

never agreed to any conditions here, and the ANC never formally requested any 

conditions.  JA 13, 404-06.   

MAHCA’s arguments to the contrary are unpersuasive.  First, MAHCA’s 

argument is forfeited because it has never identified what specific conditions the 

Board should have imposed or why those conditions would be warranted.  Br. 41.  

The Board did not abuse its discretion by failing to consider an argument that was 

not raised before it and which has not even been articulated in this appeal.  D.C. 

Metro. Police Dep’t v. Fraternal Ord. of Police, 997 A.2d 65, 73 (D.C. 2010).  

Before the Board, MAHCA did not propose any conditions; it merely asked for time 

to come to an agreement on mitigation measures with Kosovo.  JA 336-38.  In the 

Superior Court, MAHCA requested seven conditions, but only if Kosovo converted 

the property from a chancery to an ambassadorial residence.  JA 53-54.  As MAHCA 
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acknowledges, an ambassador’s residence may locate in a low-density residential 

zone as a matter of right; the FMA’s procedures for chanceries do not apply to 

residences.  Br. 42 n.34; see D.C. Code § 6-1302(a)(2) (defining chancery).  In that 

circumstance, the Board would have no power to impose conditions on the property 

because Board approval would not be required.  By failing to identify any particular 

conditions that the Board should have imposed on the chancery, MAHCA has 

forfeited the argument that the Board abused its discretion.  Fair Care Found., A.G. 

v. D.C. Dep’t of Ins. & Sec. Regul., 716 A.2d 987, 993 (D.C. 1998). 

Second, MAHCA argues that the Board declined to impose conditions 

because the Board mistakenly believed it lacked the power to impose or enforce 

conditions in a chancery case.  Br. 37-38.  There is no evidence that this was the 

rationale for the Board’s decision.  MAHCA points to a few isolated passages where 

the Board expressed skepticism that it could impose certain conditions in this case 

where those conditions had no relationship to the FMA’s statutory factors.  Br. 37-

38.  But at no point did the Board assert that it lacked the power to impose conditions 

in general, and it has done so in prior chancery cases like Benin and Gambia where 

doing so was necessary to satisfy the FMA’s requirements or where the conditions 

were the subject of a formal agreement by the applicant.  There is simply no evidence 

that the Board’s decision here was motivated by a misapprehension of its own 

authority. 
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Third, MAHCA is wrong in arguing that the lack of conditions means that 

Kosovo can modify the property without oversight.  Br. 41.  Any “alteration of, or 

addition to, any real property or any change in the purpose for which real property 

is used by a foreign mission” requires prior notification to the State Department.  

D.C. Code § 6-1305(a)(2).  The State Department then has 60 days to review the 

proposal, and it may disapprove the request or impose additional conditions on its 

approval.  Id. § 6-1305(a)(1)(A)-(B).  And any request by a chancery that qualifies 

as an “expansion” must go through the FMA’s two-step process for chancery 

establishment.  Id. § 6-1306(a); see Benin, 534 A.2d at 318 (concluding that 

construction of a radio tower was governed by the FMA).  Even if the alteration is 

approved by the State Department and the Board, it must still “comply substantially 

with District of Columbia building and related codes.”  D.C. Code § 6-1306(g). 

CONCLUSION 

For the foregoing reasons, the Court should vacate the judgment below with 

instructions to dismiss for lack of standing or, in the alternative, affirm.